DEA RESEARCH DISCUSSION PAPER Number 47 January 2002

An econometric analysis of fixed investment in Namibia

Michael Nokokure Humavindu



Directorate of Environmental Affairs, Ministry of Environment and Tourism, Private Bag 13306, Windhoek, Namibia Tel: + 264 (0)61 249 015 Fax: + 264 (0)61 240 339 email: contact@dea.met.gov.na http://www.dea.met.gov.na

This series of Research Discussion Papers is intended to present preliminary, new or topical information and ideas for discussion and debate. The contents are not necessarily the final views or firm positions of the Ministry of Environment and Tourism. Comments and feedback will be welcomed.

Contact details:

Michael Humavindu, Resource Economist, Directorate of Environmental Affairs, Ministry of Environment and Tourism, Private Bag 13306, Windhoek, NAMIBIA. Tel: +264-61-249 015; Fax: +264-61-240 339; email: mh@dea.met.gov.na

Edited by Directorate of Environmental Affairs Cover illustration by Helga Hoveka

Table of contents

Acronyms	2
Abstract	3
1. Introduction	4
2. Previous work on investment functions in Namibia	5
3. Theories of investment demand	7
4. Econometric approach and model	9
4.1 Examining co-movements between investment and other variables: The H-	P
filter methodology	9
4.2 Time series characteristics of the data and cointegration	0
4.3 The vector autoregressive model	0
4.4 Model specification, data description and source	1
5. Empirical results and conclusions	2
5.1 Unit roots tests	2
5.2 Examining correlations	3
5.3 Cointegration Analysis	4
5.4 Weak exogeneity tests	5
5.5 Long run model	б
5.6 Dynamic equations	б
5.7 Policy implications and concluding remarks	3
6. References	0

List of Tables

Table 1. A summary of the existing empirical work on private investment deter	rminants in
Namibia	5
Table 2. Five investment models	8
Table 3. Sources of variables employed in the study	11
Table 4. Unit root results	12
Table 5. Estimated number of cointegrating vectors: 1982–99	14
Table 6. Weak exogeneity test results	16
Table 7. Long run relations	16
Table 8. Dynamic modelling by full information maximum likelihood	17

List of Figures

Figure 1. Cross correlations	13
Figure 2. Cointegration graphics	15
Figure 3. Dynamic modelling graphs	

Acronyms	
ADF	augmented Dickey–Fuller
BON	Bank of Namibia
CMA	common monetary area
ECM	error correction model
FIML	full information maximum likelihood
GDP	gross domestic product
H–P	Hodrick–Prescott
LSE	London School of Economics
nampremium	Namibian premium
PINV1	Namibian fixed investment
rgiy	ratio of government investment to output
VAR	vector autoregressive system
VECM	vector error correction model

Abstract

This paper investigates the determinants of aggregate fixed investment in Namibia. Empirical work on Namibian investment functions has gained momentum only recently. To date, there are only two studies on fixed investment in Namibia. Both studies accounted for nonstationarity in the data by employing the Engle–Granger two-step procedure in their analysis. This work aims to complement the existing work by using a more comprehensive econometric analysis. The main focal point of this analysis is the use of the Johansen–Juselius cointegration technique. In addition the paper also investigates some descriptive issues by applying the Hodrick–Prescott filter analysis. Some policy and future research implications are drawn from the results.

1. INTRODUCTION

The purpose of this work is to estimate fixed investment behaviour in Namibia within a cointegrated vector autoregressive system (VAR) framework.¹ Investment is defined as the process of capital formation where resources are acquired or created for production.² Fixed investment is normally the appropriate investment aggregate to use when the effect of domestic investment on economic growth is being analysed. In this study, investment refers to fixed investment.

The effect of investment on the economy could be analysed in two ways.³ First, on the supply side, investment determines the rate of accumulation of physical capital and thereby long-term productive capacity. Second, on the demand side, changes in investment expenditures induce shifts in the aggregate level of employment and personal income through direct and indirect effects. The experience of investment in Namibia has been unusual for a developing country. While other developing countries often save less than they invest (becoming net borrowers), Namibia saves more than it invests. Most of the capital outflow is to South Africa, where investors are able to earn superior returns. Yet this situation also deprives the Namibian economy of the wider direct and indirect benefits of domestic investment.⁴

Namibia's economic development is constrained by this failure to create enough investment opportunities to absorb domestic savings. Consequently, the situation also presents the need for economic research into aspects of investment for policy evaluation. One related task is to identify determinants of fixed investment in Namibia. It is also important to investigate the influence of investment volatility on the Namibian business cycle. These two aspects define the core objectives of this study.

The paper is organised as follows. Section 2 summarises previous empirical work on investment functions in Namibia. Section 3 presents economic theory concerning aggregate investment behaviour. In Section 4, an account of the econometric methodologies employed in this work is presented. Estimation results are presented in Section 5; as is the conclusion in Section 6.

¹ A Vector Autoregressive system (VAR) is a system whereby a variable is explained by its own lagged values and the lagged values of all other variables in the system. See Hendry (1995).

² Lund (1971) identifies five separate classes of investment: investment in human capital; in intangible assets; in financial assets; in stocks and work in progress; and in fixed assets.

³ Berndt, 1990:225 and Agénor & Montiel, 1999:95.

⁴ Emerge 2001, 1998:13.

2. PREVIOUS WORK ON INVESTMENT FUNCTIONS IN NAMIBIA

To date, two studies on private domestic investment behaviour in Namibia have been carried out. The studies employed time-series techniques that account for the nonstationarity in the data. Cointegration analysis and error correction modelling were employed to determine the long- and short-term impacts of determinants of investment in Namibia. The Engle–Granger two-step procedure was applied in both studies. Table 1 indicates the variables used in the two studies.

Study	Period	Conventional investment theory factors	Policy-related factors	Open-economy factors
Harupara	1970–96	Real GNP*, real interest rates, real GDP	Public investment, inflation, credit to private sector	Real exchange rate, terms of trade
Shiimi and Kadhikwa	1980–96	Real income**, interest rates	Inflation, ratio of public investment to GDP	

Table 1. A summary of the existing empirical work on private investment determinants in Namibia

* This variable and the terms of trade variable were dropped from the long-run investment equation since they were found to exert no significant impact on private capital formation.

** Real income was dropped from the long-run investment equation due to its correlation with the ratio of public investment to GDP.

Adapted from: Harupara (1998) and Shiimi and Kadhikwa (1999).

Harupara (1998) concludes that public investment, real output, credit to private sector and the depreciation of the exchange rate positively affect investment in the long run. Inflation and real interest rates affect investment negatively in the long run. In the short-run, private investment is an increasing function of public investment and output. In the short run inflation, real interest rates and the depreciation of the exchange rate affects investment negatively. Although the study considers terms of trade, it fails to incorporate trade flow variables (exports and imports) in its estimation. Trade flows have been found to be measures of openness that displays the most consistent relationship with investment.⁵ Harupara (1998) advocates the maintenance of macroeconomic stability, which will encourage and foster private investment.

Shiimi and Kadhikwa's (1999) main findings are that interest rates and the ratio of government investment to GDP are significant determinants of investment in the long run. The ratio of government investment to GDP is highly significant in the short run. However the rate of interest rate and inflation are also significant, but with little impact in the long run. The study does not consider open-economy factors such as trade flows and exchange rate. The study notes that though various factors are responsible for the low investment record in Namibia, remedial measures are particularly needed to stem the shortage of skilled labour.

⁵ See Ndikumana (2000).

In conclusion, it appears that neither study incorporated open-economy factors of investment determination. In addition, causality issues, as between real output and investment were not addressed. Nevertheless, the studies are both important and can prove to be a sound foundation on which to base more comprehensive analysis. This paper attempts to take a step towards that goal. The paper will use a more comprehensive econometric methodology. This will not only investigate nonstationarity, cointegration and error correction, but also correlation issues.

3. Theories of investment demand

Kopcke (1985) presents five aggregate investment behaviour models (see Table 2 below). The accelerator model proposes that investment depends on lagged values of some measure of output and as well as lagged value of capital stock.⁶ The neoclassical approach moves further away from such a bivariate specification—investment behaviour, in the neoclassical approach depends not only output, but also on prices, interest rates and features of the tax laws. The model posits that factor prices, notably the user cost of capital, should be taken into account in explaining aggregate investment behaviour. However a particular drawback of the neoclassical model is that it does not rationalise the rate of investment or movement toward the optimal capital stock.

Tobin's q model postulates that net investment depends on the ratio of the market value of business capital assets to their replacement value.⁷ The q model provides a rigorous framework for specifying the effect of market value on investment. The main criticism of q theory is that its use tends to be chosen on an *ad hoc* basis rather than on optimisation theory. Thus, theory is silent on the factors that govern the shape and length of the distributed lag specification. In practice there are also numerous problems, such as measuring marginal rather than average user cost of capital, accounting for intangibles that affect market value and incorporating tax factors (Berndt, 1990:263).

Investment behaviour in the cash flow model depends on internal cash flow, because these funds are the pre-eminent and most convenient source of financing for business fixed investment. Criticism of the cash flow models arises because the models are not clear on the role of cash flow. Does cash flow affect optimal capital stock directly or does it affect the speed of adjustment from current capital stock to optimal capital stock?⁸ Finally, time series or autoregressive models are seen as classic examples of measurement without theory. In their simplest forms, investment is explained by previous investment expenditure. Autoregressive models do not assess directly the effects of changes in business conditions or economic policy on investment. Therefore, such models may be sub-optimal relative to encompassing structural models.

⁶ The main problem with the accelerator models was the absence of prices (user cost of capital). However the models were quiet successful in their empirical applications. See Kopcke (1985).

⁷ See Kopcke (1985) and Berndt (1990).

⁸ See Berndt (1990).

Table 2. Five investment models

Accelerator	$I_t = a + \sum_{i=0}^{n} Q_{t-i} + cK_{t-1}$
Neoclassical	$\mathbf{I}_{t} = a + \sum_{i=0}^{n} bi(Q_{t-i} / R_{t-i-1}) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_{i}(Q / R)_{t-1} + d\mathbf{K}_{t-1}$
q model	$\mathbf{I}_{t} = (a + \sum_{i=1}^{n} b_{i} [(q-1)(\mathbf{K})]_{t-1} + c \mathbf{K}_{t-1}) UCAP$
Cash Flow	$I_{t} = a + \sum_{i=0}^{n} b_{i} (F / C)_{t-1}$
Autoregression	$\mathbf{I}_{t} = a + \sum_{i=1}^{n} b_{i} \mathbf{I}_{t-i}$
C: price index for capital goods	
F: cash flow	
I: real investment	
K: real stock of capital	
Q: real output	
q: ratio of financial market valuation of	of net business assets to replacement costs
R: user cost of capital	
UCAP: capacity utilisation rate	
Source: A depted from K opeka (1085)	

Source: Adapted from Kopcke (1985)

Developments in explaining investment at both the aggregate and micro level continue.⁹ Recent developments in the investment literature have focused on three areas of inquiry: uncertainty and irreversibility, investment incentives and the impact of property rights and income distribution.¹⁰

⁹ See Caballero (1997) for an excellent summary of recent developments in explaining investment.

¹⁰ It is not the purpose of this paper to delve into these areas. The reader is advised to consult Bernanke (1983); Abel (1983); Schmidt-Hebbel *et al* (1996); Dixit and Pindyck (1994); Carruth *et al* (1998) and Caballero (1997). The main argument is that conventional investment models fails to consider three issues crucial in determining investment. The first of the issues is that most investment decisions face inherent uncertainty about future benefits and costs from investing. In such a situation, investors attach (subjective) probabilities to the net returns of various investment projects. The second issue is that investors can control the timing of their investment, thereby waiting for relevant information that may reduce the uncertainty. The final issue is that most investment decisions are partly or completely irreversible. Substantial economic costs will be involved in attempting to put capital stock to new uses once it has been installed.

4. ECONOMETRIC APPROACH AND MODEL

An econometric analysis was carried out to examine the co-movements of the cyclical components GDP and determinants of investment in Namibia, using a de-trending technique called the Hodrick–Prescott filter (H–P). The London School of Economics, or 'LSE' approach, incorporating cointegration will be the main methodology for modelling investment in Namibia. The 'LSE' approach has emerged as one of the leading approaches to time series modelling. One of its main tenets is the concept of general-to-specific modelling. The approach starts from a general dynamic statistical model which captures the essential characteristics of the underlying data generating process. Standard testing procedures are then used to reduce the models' complexity by eliminating statistically insignificant variables. At every stage, the validity of reductions is checked to ensure the congruence of the selected model (Krolzig and Hendry, 2000:1).

4.1 Examining co-movements between investment and other variables: The H–P filter methodology

The co-movements between investment and the other variables used in this work are examined for the period 1982 to 1999, using annual Namibian data. Gross domestic product (GDP) is used to measure the output cycle. GDP and variables such as the ratio of government investment to output (rgiy) are examined in their relations with fixed investment. To model the relations, a de-trending technique, the H–P filter is employed.¹¹

The H-P filter methodology simply characterises an observed time series, y_t , as the sum of an unobserved trend component, y_t^* , and a residual cyclical component, y_t^c :

$$y_t = y_t^* + y_t^c \tag{1}$$

With a given parameter λ , y_t^* is extracted by minimising the loss function:

$$\min \sum_{t=1}^{T} (y_t - y_t^*)^2 + \lambda \sum_{t=2}^{T-1} [(y_{t+1}^* - y_t^*) - (y_{\mathcal{E}_t^*} - y_{t+1}^*)]$$
(2)

In short, the aim is to select the trend component that minimises the squared deviations from the observed series, subject to the constraints that changes in y_{t+1}^* vary gradually over time. The higher the λ , the smoother the resulting series is forced to be. For this study $\lambda = 100$, which is the usual practice for annual data.¹² Applying the H-P methodology leads to a stationary series, allowing the use of standard time series analysis, for example cross correlations.. The aim here is to measure the degree of comovements of a series g_t with output y_t through the magnitude of the correlation coefficient $\rho(j)$, j $\epsilon \{0,\pm 1,\pm 2,\ldots\}$. The series can be cyclical, a-cyclical or counter-

¹¹ See Agenor and Montiel (1999) pp.128–9. The H–P filter method decomposes all macroeconomic series into nonstationary and stationary and so enables empirical characterisation of the data.

¹² There are criticism directed at the H-P filter methodology, which are discussed in Agenor and Montiel (1999).

cyclical depending on whether $\rho(0)$, is positive, zero, or negative (Agenor and Montiel, 1999).

4.2 Time series characteristics of the data and cointegration

Our first step is to examine the time series characteristics of the data. We employ the Augmented Dickey-Fuller (ADF) tests to determine the order of integration of each. The following regression is run to apply the ADF tests:

$$y_t = a + b_{y_t - 1} + cT + \sum_{i=1}^n d_i \Delta y_{t-i} + e_t$$
(3)

In equation (3), the null hypothesis is that b=1 (has a unit root) and the number of lags, n, is chosen as the minimum necessary for white noise residuals. The application of time series with a unit root in empirical investigations can lead to spurious results.¹³ This means that the regressions will have high R^2 , t-statistics that are significant, but the results will have no economic meaning. The regression results will appear good, because the least squares estimates are not consistent and the customary tests of statistical inferences do not hold (Enders, 1996).

4.3 The vector autoregressive model

To test for long run relations between the variables employed in this work, we employ the Johanssen-Juselius cointegration technique. This technique provides maximum likelihood tests for the number of cointegrating vectors in two cases. In the first case, the model allows for deterministic trends in the integrated variables, whereas in the second case it does not. The general VAR provides the basis for our cointegration analysis. VARs characterise the joint behaviour of a group of variables conditional on their past values and, possibly, on a group of deterministic variables which may include a constant term, a linear trend, seasonal dummies and event-specific dummies.¹⁴

Krolzig and Hendry (2000) outlines the basic VAR model including deterministic terms and with independent Gaussian errors: the K-dimensional time series vector Y_t is generated by a vector autoregressive process of order p, denoted VAR (p) model:

$$y_t = \mathbf{A}_{1yt-1} + \dots \mathbf{A}_{pyt-1} + \mathbf{B} \, d_t + \varepsilon_t \tag{4}$$

In (4) t=1 ... T; and the A_i and B are coefficient matrices and the initial values of $Y_0 = (y_0, \dots, y_{1-p})$ are fixed. The innovation process ε_t is an unobservable zero-mean white noise process with a time-invariant positive-definite variance-covariance matrix

$$\varepsilon_t = y_t - \mathbf{E} \Big[y_t | Y_{t-1} \Big]. \tag{5}$$

 ¹³ See Enders (1996).
 ¹⁴ See Gennari (1999).

which is assumed to be Gaussian:

$$\varepsilon t \sim NID(0, \Sigma)$$
 (6)

Therefore the expectation of Y_t conditional on the information set $Y_{t-1} = (Y_{t-1}, y_{t-2}, \dots, y_{1-p})$ is given by:

$$\mathbf{E}\left[\left.\mathbf{y}_{t}\right|\mathbf{Y}_{t-1}\right] = \mathbf{B}d_{t} + \sum_{j=1}^{p} A_{j}\mathbf{y}_{t-j}.$$
(7)

In our model we focus on processes where the only deterministic term is an intercept, $Bd_t = v$.

4.4 Model specification, data description and source

The investment function is specified as follows:

$$lpinv1 = c + a_1 lgdp1 + - a_2 lrgiy - a_3 lnampremium + \varepsilon$$
(8)

The definitions of the variables in the above equation are given in Table 3 below.

Table 3. Sources of variables employed in the stu	ıdy
---	-----

Variable	Source
Gross Domestic Product (gdp1)	Bank of Namibia annual reports (BON), Department of Finance reports (1995=100)
Domestic Private Fixed Investment (pinv1)	BON annual reports, Department of Finance reports, Central Bureau of Statistics National accounts reports (1995=100)
Namibian premium (nampremium)	The differential between real Namibian interest rates and South African real deposit rates, from BON reports and South African interest rates from South African Reserve Bank bulletin (1995=100)
Ratio of government investment to output (rgiy)	Bank of Namibia annual reports (BON), Department of Finance reports (1995=100)

In equation 8, ε and *c* denotes the error and constant terms respectively. Aggregate annual data covering the period 1982–99 will be used for analysing investment behaviour in Namibia. All data figures are expressed in Namibia dollars, unless otherwise stated.¹⁵ We take the natural log of all the variables in our econometric model.

¹⁵ Namibia is part of the common monetary area (CMA). One Namibia dollar is equal to one South African Rand.

5. Empirical results and conclusions

This section will present the empirical results and conclusions. The unit roots tests and cross correlations are reported on first. Results of the cointegration analysis are reported thereafter. In concluding the paper, some policy implications of the study and directions for future research are offered.

5.1 Unit roots tests

Augmented Dickey–Fuller tests are used to determine the level of integration of the variables used. Table 8 below shows that the variables are all integrated of the first order in levels (except for ratio of government investment).

Table 4. Unit root results

Variable	Period	Lags	Deterministic component			Level of integration
			None	Constant	Trend and constant	
gdp1	1982–99	1	2.383	-0.6666	-2.845	I(1)
lgdp1	1982–99	1	2.385	-2.562	-2.991	I(1)
∆gdp1	1982–99	1	-2.633**	-3.964**	-3.875**	I(0)
Δ lgdp1	1982–99	1	-2.895**	-3.825**	-4.019*	I(0)
pinv1	1982–99	1	1.592	-0.193	-3.058	I(1)
lpinv1	1982–99	1	1.625	-0.7479	-2.66	I(1)
$\Delta pinv1$	1982–99	1	-2.782**	-3.792*	-3.638	I(0)
Δ lpinv1	1982–99	1	-2.547*	-3.309*	-3.159	I(0)
namprem	1982–99	1	-1.539	-1.527	-3.4	I(1)
lnamprem	1982–99	1	-1.46	-1.469	-3.359	I(1)
Δ namprem	1982–99	1	-4.29**	-4.194**	-4.498*	I(0)
Δlnamprem	1982–99	1	-4.29**	-4.194**	-4.498*	I(0)
rgiy	1982–99	1	-2.75**	-4.611**	-5.098**	I(0)
lrgiy	1982–99	1	1.372	-3.621*	-1.233	I(0)
Δrgiy	1982–99	1	-6.633**	-6.488**	-6.314**	I(0)
Δlrgiy	1982–99	1	-2.427*	-2.689	-3.159	I(0)

 Δ is the difference operator

* Reject H₀ at 5% level

** reject H₀ at 1% level

5.2 Examining correlations

As described earlier, we first examined correlations between Namibian fixed investment (PINV1) and output (GDP), Namibian premium (nampremium) and ratio of government investment to output (rgiy). We employ the H–P filter. Figure 1 below presents the results (which were estimated using PcGive).

Figure 1. Cross correlations





The figure indicates that private fixed investment is weakly correlated with output, the ratio of government investment to output and the Namibian premium. In fact the correlations appears to be insignificant. Implications can be drawn from the correlation investigations: it appears that using this data set, we cannot expect to gain a lot on short-run dynamics. We should rather focus on the long run results, which is part of the co-integration analysis.

5.3 Cointegration Analysis

Table 9 below shows the results of the trace and maximum eigen-value tests used to determine the number of cointegrated vectors in the VAR. The results provide strong evidence for at least one cointegrating relationship. Cointegration graphics (Figure 2) also shows support for at least one cointegrating relationship. Only the first vector (Vector 1) seems stationary.

$p = 0$ 37.78^{**} 28.34^{*} 27.1 62.3^{**} 46.73 47.2 $p <= 1$ 17 12.75 21.0 24.52 18.39 29.7 $p <= 2$ 7.37 5.527 7.521 5.64 15.4 14.1 $p <= 3$ 0.1505 0.1129 3.8 0.1505 0.1129 3.8	Ho: rank=p	-Tlog(1-mu)	using T-nm	95%	-T\Sum log(.)	using T-nm	95%
p <= 11712.7521.024.5218.3929.7 $p <= 2$ 7.375.5277.5215.6415.414.1 $p <= 3$ 0.15050.11293.80.15050.11293.8	$\mathbf{p} = 0$	37.78**	28.34*	27.1	62.3**	46.73	47.2
p <= 27.375.5277.5215.6415.414.1 $p <= 3$ 0.15050.11293.80.15050.11293.8	p <= 1	17	12.75	21.0	24.52	18.39	29.7
p <= 3 0.1505 0.1129 3.8 0.1505 0.1129 3.8	p <= 2	7.37	5.527	7.521	5.64	15.4	14.1
	p <= 3	0.1505	0.1129	3.8	0.1505	0.1129	3.8

Table 5. Estimated number of cointegrating vectors: 1982–99

Number of lags used in the analysis: 1

Variables entered unrestricted: constant

Note: Estimations used the PC-GIVE Professional packages.

Figure 2. Cointegration graphics



5.4 Weak exogeneity tests

Long-run weak exogeneity refers to the hypothesis that a variable influences the long run development of other variables in the system, but is not influenced by them. Weak exogeneity is also referred to as the hypothesis of 'no levels feedback'.¹⁶ Weak exogeneity testing implies a null restriction on the long-term component in the marginal processes for $\Delta gdp1$, $\Delta rgiy$, $\Delta namprem and \Delta lpinv1$. Results for the weak exogeneity are reported in Table 10 below.

¹⁶ See Hendry and Juselius (2001).

Variable	Test statistics	Assumed rank of long run matrix		
lgdp1	Chi^2(1) = 2.0506 [0.1521]	1		
lnamprem	Chi^2(1) = 13.609 [0.0002]**	1		
lrgiy	Chi^2(1) = 16.321 [0.0001] **	1		
lpinv1	Chi^2(1) = 17.343 [0.000] **	1		
* Indicates rejection at 5% level				
** indicates rejection at 10% level.				

Table 6. Weak exogeneity test results

The null hypothesis of weak exogeneity could be rejected at the 1% level for all the marginal processes with the exception marginal process for lgdp1. Consequently, only lgdp1 could be treated as weakly exogenous for the purposes of this model. In estimating our long run relations, we need to incorporate the restrictions as suggested by results in table above.

5.5 Long run model

The estimated long run relations, which incorporate restrictions as suggested by the weak exogeneity results are presented in Table 11.

Table 7. Long run relations

\beta'	lgdp1	lrgiy	lnamprem
lpinv1	0.00000	-0.86428	-3.2368
Standard errors of beta'	0.00000	0.43876	0.038004

In the long run, fixed investment is negatively correlated with the ratio of government investment to output and the Namibian premium. Thus in contrast to earlier empirical work, this study finds evidence of government investment crowding out private investment in Namibia.

5.6 Dynamic equations

To conclude our results section, we report on the dynamics (or equilibrium conditions results). The vector error correction model (VECM) was estimated using full information maximum likelihood (FIML). The results are reported in Table 12.

 Table 8. Dynamic modelling by full information maximum likelihood

Equation 1 for Dlpinv1						
Variable	Coefficient	Std.Error	t-value	t-prob		
Dlrgiy	-0.48158	0.24190	-1.991	0.0679		
ecm1_1	-0.72150	0.32757	-2.203	0.0463		
Constant	3.8554	1.7281	2.231	0.0439		

sigma = 0.203549

Equation 2 for Dlnamprem

Variable	Coefficient	Std.Error	t-value	t-prob
ecm1_1	-25.078	7.0302	-3.567	0.0034
Constant	132.44	37.181	3.562	0.0035

\sigma = 4.45129

loglik = 9.6919717 log|\Omega| = -1.29226 |\Omega| = 0.274649 T = 15 LR test of over-identifying restrictions: Chi^2(1) = 0.142785 [0.7055]

Diagnostic tests

Dlinv1 :Portmanteau 3 lags= 1.6639 Dlnprem :Portmanteau 3 lags= 3.5481 Dlinv1 :AR 1-1 F(1, 11) = 1.826 [0.2037] Dlnprem :AR 1-1 F(1, 11) = 2.2599 [0.1609]Dlinv1 :Normality Chi^2(2)= 0.4018 [0.8180] Dlnprem :Normality Chi^2(2)= 3.2968 [0.1924] Dlinv1 :ARCH 1 F(1, 10) = 0.45829 [0.5138]Dlnprem : ARCH 1 F(1, 10) = 0.81523 [0.3878]Dlinv1 :Xi^2 F(4, 7) = 1.8562 [0.2230]Dlnprem : Xi^2 F(4, 7) = 0.1636 [0.9503] Dlinv1 :Xi*Xj F(5, 6) = 1.3628 [0.3546] Dlnprem :Xi*Xj F(5, 6) = 0.18901 [0.9561]Vector portmanteau 3 lags= 5.4075 Vector AR 1-1 F(4, 20) = 0.62645 [0.6491]Vector normality Chi $^{2}(4) = 3.0091 [0.5563]$ Vector Xi^2 F(12, 16) = 0.79573 [0.6506]Vector Xi*Xj F(15, 14) = 0.60204 [0.8297]

Short-run dynamic analysis is useful since it includes information on both short and long run parameters. Long-run parameters are captured through the error correction model (ECM) term in Table 12 above. The ECM term is negative, thereby confirming earlier assertion that the variables are cointegrated. The ECM implies a very fast speed of adjustment, around 70% per annum for the investment equation. The diagnostic statistics are strongly supportive of the short run empirical model. Tests for over identifying restrictions (LR), autoregressive conditional heteroskedasticity (ARCH), chi-square test for normality (NORM), serial correlation (AR) and goodness-of-fit test in stationary autoregressive moving-regressive-average models (Portmanteau) are passed with ease. The acceptable diagnostics are also reflected in Figure 3 below.

Figure 3. Dynamic modelling graphs



5.7 Policy implications and concluding remarks

This paper has explored the short run and long run coefficients of private fixed investment in Namibia. These coefficients are calculated using a sample of annual observations between 1982 and 1999. Employing multivariate cointegration analysis one significant cointegrating vector was discovered. In the long run, the ratio of government investment and the interest differential between South African and Namibian rates are significant determinants of fixed investment. A crucial finding is that output (GDP) is not significant for investment in Namibia. This finding warrants further investigation. In addition we examined degrees of correlation between fixed private investment and the other variables employed in the study. The results show that the correlations are insignificant.

Of importance are the findings that government investment tends to crowd out private investment in both the long- and short-run. The stability of the short run dynamic model for private fixed investment is also a noteworthy aspect. Some inferences for policy and future research can be drawn.

An important implication for policy is that the ratio of government investment and interest rates differentials are major determinants of private investment in Namibia. Thus some emphasis should be placed on these two variables in efforts to enhance and stimulate private investment in Namibia.

For future empirical work, insignificance of output (GDP) should be investigated further. There is also a need for empirical work to examine in detail the relationship between public and private investment in Namibia. Previous empirical work on investment in Namibia has found public investment having a crowding in effect on private investment. This work has, in contrast to previous work, found public investment to have a crowding out effect on private investment. Future empirical work should attempt to disaggregate public investment into various components. This might aid in finding out which components of public investment crowd out and which ones crowd in private investment.

In conclusion, it should be noted that this study did not accommodate aspects of irreversibility and uncertainty in its empirical analysis. As these two issues are gaining ground in the investment literature, it might be worthwhile for future work to incorporate them.

6. REFERENCES

- Abel, A. 1983. 'Optimal investment under uncertainty'. *American Economic Review*. Vol.73, pp.228–236.
- African Development Bank. 2000. African development report.
- African Review of Business and Technology. 2000. *Investment: Industrialization An engine for growth.* St Ives (Roche). Ltd. pp.13–15.
- Agénor, P.R. and P.J. Montiel. (1999a) *Development macroeconomics*. (2nd ed.) Princeton University Press. Princeton, New Jersey.
- Bank of Namibia 1996. Annual Report. BON. Windhoek.
- Bank of Namibia 1997. Annual Report. BON. Windhoek.
- Bank of Namibia 1998. Annual Report. BON. Windhoek.
- Barro, R.J. and L. Jony-Wha. 1994. 'Losers and winners in economic growth'. In: *Proceedings of the World Bank Annual Conference on development economics*. Bruno M., and Pleskovic B. (eds.) World Bank. Washington, D.C.
- Bernanke, B.S. 1983. 'Irreversibility, uncertainty and cyclical investment'. *Quarterly Journal of Economics*. Vol.98, pp.85–106.
- Berndt, E. 1990. *The practice of econometrics: Classic and contemporary*. MIT. Reading, Massachusetts.
- Bouton, L and M.A. Sumlinski. 1999. 'Trends in private investment in developing countries'. *Discussion paper No. 41*. International Finance Corporation. The World Bank. Washington D.C.
- Caballero, R.J. 1997. 'Aggregate investment'. *NBER Working Paper No. 6264*. National Bureau of Economics Research. Cambridge, Massachusetts.
- Carruth, A., Dickerson, A, and A Henley. 1998. *What do we know about investment under uncertainty?* Dept. of Economics. University of Kent.
- Carruth, A., Dickerson, A, and A Henley. 2000. 'Econometric modelling of UK aggregate investment: The role of profits and uncertainty'. *The Manchester School*. Vol.68, No.3, pp.276–300.
- Carruth, H. and J.R Sanchez-Fung. 2000. 'Money demand in the Dominican Republic'. *Applied Economics*. Vol.32, pp.1439–49.
- Central Bureau of Statistics. 1995. *National accounts, 1982–1998*. National Planning Commission. Windhoek.
- Cessarato, S. 1999. 'Savings and economic growth in neoclassical theory'. *Cambridge Journal of Economics*. Vol.23, pp.771–93.
- Charemza, W.W. and D.F. Deadman. 1992. *New directions in econometric practice*. Edward Elgar. England.
- Chirinko, R.S. 1993. 'Business fixed investment spending: A critical survey of modelling strategies, empirical results and policy implications'. *Journal of Economic Literature*. Vol.31, pp.1875–911.
- Collier, P. and J.W. Gunning. 1999. 'Explaining African economic performance'. *Journal of Economic Literature*. Vol.37, pp.64–111.
- Dixit, A.K., and R.S. Pindyck. 1994. *Investment under uncertainty*. Princeton University Press. Princeton.

Emerge 2001. 1998. *Savings and business investment in Namibia*. Windhoek, Namibia. Enders, W. 1996. *Applied economic time series analysis*. John Wiley and Sons.

Fine, B. 2000. 'Endogenous growth theory: A critical assessment'. *Cambridge Journal of Economics*. Vol.24, pp.245–65.

Gennari, E. 1999. 'Estimating money demand in Italy: 1970–1994'. *Working paper*. European University Institute. Department of Economics.

- Ghatak, S, Milner, C. and U. Utkulu. 1997. 'Exports, export composition, and growth. Cointegration and causality evidence for Malaysia'. *Applied Economics*. Vol.29, pp.213–23.
- Ghura D. and M.T Hadjimichael. 1996. *Growth in sub-Saharan Africa*. Staff paper, International Monetary Fund. Vol.43.
- Gujarati. 1995. Basic econometrics. McGraw-Hill.
- Hadjimichael, M., Ghura, P., Muhleisen, M., Nord, R. and E. Ucer. 1995. 'Sub-Saharan Africa: Growth, savings and investment, 1986–1993'. *IMF Occasional Paper No.118*. IMF. Washington, D.C.

Hansohm, D., Mutoopola-Sibongo, M., and D. Motinga. 1998. *Overview of the Namibian economy*. NEPRU. Windhoek. Namibia.

- Harupara, G. 1998. 'Determinants of private investment in Namibia'. MSc Thesis, Addis Ababa University.
- Hendry, D.F. 1995. *Dynamic econometrics. Advanced tests in econometrics*. Oxford University Press. Oxford.
- Hendry, D.F. 2000. 'Modelling U.K. inflation over the long run'. *Discussion paper*. Department of Economics. University of Oxford. Oxford.
- Hendry, D. F. and K. Juselius. 2001. 'Explaining cointegration analysis'. *The Energy Journal*. Vol.22, No.1.
- Hernandez-Cata, E. 2000. 'Raising growth and investment in sub-Saharan Africa. What can be done?' *IMF Policy Discussion Paper No.4*. African Dept. Washington, D.C.

John Black. Oxford Dictionary of Economics. Oxford University Press. Oxford.

- Jorgenson, J.W. 1971. 'Econometric studies of investment behaviour: A survey'. *Journal* of Economic Literature. Vol.9, No.4, pp.1111–47.
- Kaakunga, E. 1997. 'The composition of government expenditure and economic growth. The case study of Namibia: 1980–94'. Unpublished M.Phil thesis. Dept. of Economics. University of Ghana, Legon.
- Kopcke, R.W. 1985. 'The determinants of investment spending'. *New England Economic Review*. Federal Reserve Bank of Boston. Boston, Massachusetts.
- Krolzig, H.M. and D.F. Hendry. Forthcoming. 'Computer automation of general-tospecific model selection procedures'. *Journal of economics dynamics and control*.
- Lawson, T. 1995. 'The Lucas critique: A generalisation'. *Cambridge Journal of Economics*. Vol.19, pp.257–76.
- Lund, P.J. 1971. *Investment: The study of an economic aggregate*. Oliver Boyd. Edinburgh.
- Muellbauer, N.J. and D.F. Hendry. 'Modelling cointegrated process'. Final report. R000234954. Nuffield College. Oxford.
- Muscatelli, V.A. and S. Hurn. 1995. 'Econometric modelling using cointegrated time series'. *In*: Oxley, L. George, D. Roberts, C. and S. Sayer (eds.) *Surveys in econometrics*. Blackwell. Oxford, UK.
- Namibia Stock Exchange. 1999. Annual Report. Windhoek, Namibia.

- Namibian Investment Centre. 1999. *Investment Guide*. Ministry of Trade and Industry. Republic of Namibia.
- Ndikumana, L. 2000. 'Financial determinants of domestic investment in sub-Saharan Africa: Evidence from panel data'. *World Development*. Vol.28, No.2, pp.381–400.
- NEPRU. *Namibia economic review and prospects*. Various issues. Namibia Economic Research Unit. Windhoek, Namibia.
- Pagan A. 1995a. 'Three econometric methodologies: A critical appraisal'. *In*: Oxley, L. George, D. Roberts, C. and S. Sayer (eds.) *Surveys in econometrics*. Blackwell. Oxford, UK.
- Pagan A. 1995b. 'Three econometric methodologies: An update'. *In*: Oxley, L. George,D. Roberts, C. and S. Sayer (eds.) *Surveys in econometrics*. Blackwell. Oxford, UK.
- Palgrave. Dictionary of Economics. Palgrave.

Rao B. 1994. Cointegration for the applied economist. Macmillan Publishers. London.

- Schmidt-Hebbel, K, Servin, L. and A. Solimano. 1996. 'Savings and investment. Paradigms, puzzles, policies'. *The World Bank Research Observer*. Vol.2, No.1. pp.87–117.
- Servin, L. 1998. Irreversibility, uncertainty and private investment: Analytical issues and some lessons for Africa. World Bank mimeo. Washington, D.C.
- Shiimi, I.W. and Kadhikwa, G. 1999. 'Savings and investment in Namibia'. *BON Occasional Paper No.* 2. BON. Windhoek.
- Smit, B.W. and G.M Pellissier. 1997. 'The BER annual econometric model of the South African economy: A cointegration version'. *J. Stud. Econ. Econometrics*, Vol.21, No.1.
- Temple, J.1999. 'The new growth evidence' *Journal of Economic Literature*. Vol.37, pp.112–56.
- Temple, J. 2000. 'Summary of an informal workshop on the causes of economic growth'. *Economics Department Working Paper No. 260.*

DIRECTORATE OF ENVIRONMENTAL AFFAIRS

Research Discussion Papers *available in this series*

- 1. Ashley, C. 1994. Population growth and renewable resource management: The challenge of sustaining people and the environment. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 1. 40 pp.
- 2. Ashley, C, Barnes, J and Healy, T. 1994. Profits, equity, growth and sustainability: The potential role of wildlife enterprises in Caprivi and other communal areas of Namibia. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 2. 25 pp.
- **3. Quan, J, Barton, D and Conroy, C (Ashley, C ed). 1994.** A preliminary assessment of the economic impact of desertification in Namibia. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* **3**. 150 pp.
 - Northern commercial areas: Okahandja, Otjiwarongo and Grootfontein. 33 pp.
 - Communal and commercial areas of southern Namibia. 42 pp.
 - Northern communal areas: Uukwaluudhi. 35 pp.
- 4. Ashley, C and Garland, E. 1994. Promoting community-based tourism development: Why, what and how? *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 4. 37 pp.
- 5. Jones, BTB. 1995. Wildlife management, utilisation and tourism in communal areas: Benefits to communities and improved resource management. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 5. 37 pp.
- 6. Barnes, JI. 1995. The value of non-agricultural land use in some Namibian communal areas: A data base for planning. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 6.21 pp.
- 7. Ashley, C, Müller, H and Harris, M. 1995. Population dynamics, the environment and demand for water and energy in Namibia. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 7. 37 pp.
- 8. Barnes, JI and de Jager, JLV. 1995. Economic and financial incentives for wildlife use on private land in Namibia and the implications for policy. DEA Research Discussion Paper 8. 21 pp.
- 9. Rodwell, TC, Tagg, J and Grobler, M. 1995. Wildlife resources in Caprivi, Namibia: The results of an aerial census in 1994 and comparisons with past surveys. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 9. 29 pp.
- 10. Ashley, C. 1995. Tourism, communities and the potential impacts on local incomes and conservation. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 10. 51 pp.
- 11. Jones, BTB. 1996. Institutional relationships, capacity and sustainability: lessons learned from a community-based conservation project, eastern Tsumkwe District, Namibia, 1991–96. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 11. 43 pp.
- 12. Ashley, C and Barnes, JI. 1996. Wildlife use for economic gain: The potential for wildlife to contribute to development in Namibia. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 12. 23 pp.
- **13. Ashley, C. 1996.** Incentives affecting biodiversity conservation and sustainable use: The case of land use options in Namibia. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 13. 21 pp.
- 14. Jarvis, AM and Robertson, A. 1997. Endemic birds of Namibia: Evaluating their status and mapping biodiversity hotspots. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 14. 103 pp.
- **15. Barnes, JI, Schier, C. and van Rooy, G. 1997.** Tourists' willingness to pay for wildlife viewing and wildlife conservation in Namibia. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 15. 24 pp.
- **16. Ashley, C, Barnes, JI, Brown, CJ and Jones, BTB. 1997.** Using resource economics for natural resource management: Namibia's experience. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 16. 23 pp.
- 17. Lange, GM, Barnes, JI and Motinga, DJ. 1997. Cattle numbers, biomass, productivity and land degradation in the commercial farming sector of Namibia, 1915 to 1995. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 17. 28 pp.
- **18.** Lange, GM. 1997. An approach to sustainable water management using natural resource accounts: The use of water, the economic value of water and implications for policy. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 18. 39 pp.

continued overleaf......

Other Research Discussion Papers in this series (continued).....

- **19.** Lange, GM and Motinga, DJ. 1997. The contribution of resource rents from minerals and fisheries to sustainable economic development in Namibia. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 19. 32 pp.
- **20. Ashley, C and LaFranchi, C. 1997.** Livelihood strategies of rural households in Caprivi: Implications for conservancies and natural resource management. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 20. 96 pp.
- 21. Byers, BA (Roberts, CS, ed.) 1997. Environmental threats and opportunities in Namibia: A comprehensive assessment. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 21. 65 pp.
- 22. Day, JA (Barnard, P, ed). 1997. The status of freshwater resources in Namibia. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 22. 46 pp.
- 23. O'Toole, MJ (Barnard, P, ed). 1997. Marine environmental threats in Namibia. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 23. 48 pp.
- 24. Jones, BTB. 1997. Parks and resident peoples. Linking Namibian protected areas with local communities. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 24. 39 pp.
- 25. Environmental Evaluation Unit, University of Cape Town (Tarr, JG, ed.) 1998. Summary report of a retrospective study of the environmental impacts of emergency borehole supply in the Gam and Khorixas areas of Namibia. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 25. 27 pp.
- 26. Auer, C. 1998. Water availability and chemical water quality as important factors for sustainable wildlife management in the Etosha National Park and for domestic stock in farming areas of Namibia. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 26. 30 pp.
- 27. Barnes, JI. 1998. Wildlife conservation and utilisation as complements to agriculture in southern African development. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 27. 18 pp
- 28. Blackie, R and Tarr, P. 1998. Government policies on sustainable development in Namibia. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 28. 21 pp.
- **29.** Blackie, R. 1998. Communities and natural resources: Trends in equitable and efficient use. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 29, in press.
- **30. Tarr, P. 1999.** Knowledge, opinions and attitudes regarding Environmental Assessment in Namibia: Results of a national survey conducted in 1997. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 30. 20 pp.
- **31.** Simmons, RE, Barnes, KN, Jarvis, AM and Robertson, A. 1999. Important bird areas in Namibia. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 31. 66 pp.
- Environmental and Geographical Science Masters Students, University of Cape Town (Blackie, R, ed).
 1999. A preliminary environmental assessment of Namibia's resettlement programme. DEA Research Discussion Paper 32, 29 pp.
- **33. Robertson, A and Jarvis, AM. 1999.** Bird data in Namibia: A model for biodiversity information system development. Avifaunal database user manual. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 33. 122 pp.
- **34. Tarr, P and Figueira, M. 1999.** Namibia's Environmental Assessment framework: The evolution of policy and practice. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 34. 20 pp.
- 35. Margules, CR (Barnard, P, ed). 1999. Biodiversity planning and monitoring in Namibia. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 35. 27 pp.
- **36.** Nghileendele, NP and Uisso, V. 1999. The state of Namibia's freshwater environment. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 36.

continued overleaf......

Other Research Discussion Papers in this series (continued).....

- **37.** Nghileendele, NP and Uisso, V. 1999. The state of Namibia's socio-economic environment. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 37.
- **38. McGann, JA. 1999.** The Environmental Investment Fund: An initiative for the conservation and protection of the environmental and natural resource base of Namibia. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 38. 57 pp.
- **39.** McGann, JA. 1999. Towards the establishment of the Environmental Investment Fund: Opportunities, constraints, and lessons learned. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 39. 47 pp.
- **40. Jones, BTB and Mosimane, A. 2000.** Empowering communities to manage natural resources: where does the new power lie? Case studies from Namibia. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 40. 32 pp.
- **41. Corbett, A and Jones, BTB. 2000.** The legal aspects of governance in CBNRM in Namibia. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 41. 25 pp.
- 42. Barnes, J.I., MacGregor, J. and Weaver, L.C. 2001. Economic analysis of community wildlife use initiatives in Namibia. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 42. 20pp
- **43. Poonyth, D., Barnes, J.I., Suich, H. and Monamati, M. 2001.** Satellite and resource accounting as tools for tourism planning in southern Africa. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* **43**. 21pp.
- **44. Suich, H. 2001.** Development of preliminary tourism satellite accounts for Namibia. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 44. 20pp.
- **45. Krug W., Suich H and Haimbodi, N.** 2002. Park pricing and economic efficiency in Namibia. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 45. 23pp.
- **46. Krugman, H. 2002**. Fundamental issues and the threats to sustainable development in Namibia. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 46. 50pp.
- **47. Humavindu, M.N. 2002.** An econometric analysis of fixed investment in Namibia. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 47. 22pp.